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NOTES
ON THE YORK COUNTY, VIRGINIA, GOODWINS.

BY THE EDITOR.

It appears to be the popular belief that Virginia was settled by the emi-
grants who came with John Smith. But, as a matter of fact, a large majority
of all who arrived previous to the Indian massacre of 1622 died from exposure,
disease. or massacre. The real settlement of Virginia occurred during the
civil wars in England. The majority of these were merchants and shipping
people from the cities, who had little sympathy with the quarrels of either
Puritans or Cavaliers, but who were interested in making money and securing
comfortable homes. From this class came James Goodwin, of York county,
descended from a line of merchants. While the tombstone of his first wife
states that she had seven children, and while seven children survived their
father, I am inclined to think that Robert and Martin were by the last wife,
Blanche, as she mentions them in her will, and omits the other sons. The
Robert, son of the first wife, probably died without issue. (See page T)%

The connections of the Goodwins were highly respectable. The Moores,
Mosses, Chismans, Reades, Robinsons, Tipladys, Beales. Nuttings, Calthorpes,
Sheldons, ete., were all justices of the county, and three or more of their rep-
resentatives were councillors of State.

Moores. This family begins with Augustine Moore about 1651 Augustine
Moore owned Temple Farm at the surrender in 1751. (See article “Temple
Farm,” QrarTERLY, Vol IL, pp. 3-21.)

Mosses. This family begins with Edward Moss, and intermarried with all
the leading families of the section. To a deed of his, the clerk atfixes on the
record a rough drawing of a shield, evidencing heraldic charges. Like the
Goodwins, they were probably from London. (See letter of Richard Banckes,
p. 142.)

Reades. James Goodwin married Mildred Reade, who was daughter of
Robert Reade and Mary Lilly (daughter of John Lilly). Robert Reade was
eldest son of Col. George Reade, once colonial Secretary for State of Virginia,
and brother of Robert Reade, private secretary to his uncle, Sir Francis Win-
debank, Secretary of State to Charles L. The Reades traced far into English
chronicles. (See QuarTERLY, Vol IL, p. 9; Vol. IIL, pp. 29, 40, 50; Virginia
Magazine of History and Biography, Vol. IV., p. 204.) George Washington,
commander of the United States Army, and General Thomas Nelson, com-
mander of the Virginia forces at the surrender at Yorktown, were alike de-
scended from Col. George Reade. There were in York county contemporaties
of Col. George Reade, Benjamin Reade, and Francis Reade, and in Warwick
county, Thomas Reade. Benjamin and Thomas are called ‘*‘kinsmen” of
Col. George Reade, in the records. Thomas Reade married Elizabeth Tip-

¥ For pp. 7 and 142 see pp. 424 and 559, this volume.
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lady, sister of Captain Jobn Tipiady. and Lad issue, Francis, who had Thomas,
who Lad, probably, Thomas, of Elizabeth City county. father of Hawkins
Reade, **cabinet maker and wheelright,” who is connected with the Sheild,
McCandlish, and Pescud Families. (See QUaRTERLY, Vol. IV, p. 59.)

Clivman. Lieutenant-Colonel John Chisman, who came to Virginia in
1621, was one of the first settlers to take up land in York county. Chisman's
Creek is named for him. He was a member of the Virginia Council. He re-
turned to England and resided in the parish of St. Mary Magdalene, Bermond-
sea, county Surry. His brother, Edmund Chisman, remained behind, and his
son, Major Edmand Chisman, was prominent in Bacon's Rebellion. The Vir-
ginia family is, however, descend-d from the second son, Captain Thomas
Chisman, who married Elizabeth Reade, a daugliter of Col. George Reade.
(See QuartERLY, Vol. I, pp. 89-99, for Chisman pedigree.)

Robinson. Mr. Hayden in his Virginia Genealogies gives an interesting
pedigree of this family. One of Virginia's greatest lawyers was Conway Robin-
son, lately deceased.

Beale. (See page9.) The family begins with Col. Thomas Beale, member
of the Virginia Council, who was in York county as early as 1645. The late
Gen. Richard Lee Turberville Beale, United States member of Congress and
General in Confederate State's Army, was a descendant. For Beale, see
QuanTERLY IIL, pp. 40, €5, 69; IL, p. 25.

Nutting. Captain Thomas Nutting left no male descendants. His wife
was Elizabeth Booth, daughter of William Booth, J. P., who was a son, I
think, of Robert Booth, clerk of York county. For Booth, see QUARTERLY,
Vol Sl p1] s, p. 253 v " pp. 180, 266.

Calthorpe. This family began with Col. Christopher Calthorpe, who came
to Virginia in 1622 He was son of Christopher Calthorpe, Esq., of Blakeney,
in Norfolk county, England, who was a scion of one of the proudest families
in England, being connected with Queen Elizabeth. (See QuarTERLY, VOL
IL, pp. 106, et seq., for Calthorpe pedigree.)

Sheldon. Captain William Sheldoh must have been a relation of Gilbert
8heldon, Esq., of London, who executed a power of attorney to him about
lands in Virginia in 1715. This Gilbert was son and heir of Daniel Sheldon,
Esq., who owned lands in Virginia, and married Judith, daughter of Sir John
Chapman, and widow of Sir Maurice Digges. (See QuarTERLY, VoL IL, D. 8.)

It is believed that the following abstracts from the records will be of special
interest, as they will enable the reader to verify in great part the work of
Judge Goodwin. The assessor’s books, for instance, seem to show that Peter
Goodwin, who married Frances Chapman, or Toomer, was, indeed, son of Cap-
tain John Goodwin, son of Col. John Goodwin. (See page 9.) These books
prove that the tract that Robert L Williams now lives on, twelve hundred acres
on south side of Back Creek, was assessed to Harold Goodwin, who was pre-
ceded (before 1833) by Peter Goodwin (whose wife was Frances), and that this
Peter succeeded about 1785 Captain John Goodwin, deceased. There was
another tract on the other side of Back Creek (being one hundred and seven
acres) in Charles parish, which in 1782 was assessed to John Goodwin, from
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whom it came to Peter G :alwin called Peter Goodwin, Sr.), who died about
1824, aud was succeeded by his won, Peter R Goodwin, who married Mahala,
and had two chuldren. A sister of this Peter R. Goodwin, Virginia E., married

John Curtis,

ExtracTs From THE RECORDS, YORE COUNTY.

Deed of William Smith, citizen and weaver of London, appoints in his
place Mr. John Tiplaldy, of York River, in Virginia, planter, to receive all
sums, etc., due him by virtue of one writing in covenant from Moses Davies,
in the penalty of 20 hogsheads of tobacco. (September 8, 1668.) Witnesses:
John Smith, W™ Swinnerton, Tho. Swinnerton.

Nov y+ 10™, 1670. TUpon y* peticon of M Thomas Read as intermarrying
with Elizabeth Tiplady, 3* Ruth Tiplady Administratrix of Mr John Tiplady
deced. Is ordered to deliver the said Read his full Estate in Right of his wife,
due from her father's estate & [Read] to give Receipt of the same to aquitt the
Administratrix.

Loxpox, 10" August, 1678.
M Ruth Tiplady

I have yo™ w* a bill of exchange to receive of Jn Presson w°" money you
ordered to discharge another bill of exchange drawne on me. I severall tymes
Deranded the money of said Presson w** he absolutely denyed soe have sent
you the enclosed p***‘. That bill you drawne on me I could do noe other then
to deny that, haveing no money from Presson, but if you had given me order
to pay it in case that had been denyed I would a done it in favour to you. If
you had sent home tobacco it would have come to a good markett I sold my
coz Mosses tobo at 6d.4 F Ib. and it is now worth as much and I believe will
beare a good price next year I shall be glad to serve you or any of yo© friends

My service to yo'selfe and sonne Iam
Yo' serv* RicEARD BANCKES
Record” March 19 161§ 7 R. A Cl Cur [Richard Awborne, Clerk.]

Power of attorney from Thomas Reade to his friend and brother, John
Smyth, 1675.

Will of John Smyth, of York county. Gives his land in New Kent, pur-
chased of Capt. William Smyth,' of Bristol, to be equally divided between his
two sons, Henry and John Smith; to his daughter Sarah Smyth land on Back
Creek, in York county; his housing and land at a place called Walton, fifteen
miles from London, to be sold. and the proceeds to be invested in negroes to
stock his plantation in New Kent county; his plate to be sold after his decease
and the proceeds to be converted into pails and axes for the benefit of the said
plantation in New Kent: legacies of horses to his three children and to his
daughter-in-law Ann Dixon, the wife of Richard Dixon, who is to have all her
mother’s apparel [from a subsequent order it appears that Ann Dixon's father
was James Moore); makes brothers Ralph Walker and John Rogers executors.
Dated December 22, 1687; proved Feb. 24, 1687-'8.

Inventory of John Smyth deceased, £209 12s. 6d. Among the items ‘4
hhds of tob. which lyeth in the hands of M* Tiplady in England.”

1 For will of Captain William Smith, see New Bngland Hist. and Gen. Register, Vol.
XLVIL, p. 547,
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John Hethersall died in York . -» ¥ im 1670 and left a widow, Rebecea,
—Va. Mag. of Hist. i I3 Gt Vel 13 Deed of Belecca Hethersall for 251
pds. to John Tiplady, who is ab e 1, fuarry Ler duicsLter, Rebecea Wythe.

Witnesses: John Wrythe, Hen'y Watkins.  Dated May 7. 1657; proved June
2451690,

Bond of Rebecca Wrthe, of the cousty and parish of York, to Elizabeth
Tiplady and Rebecca Tiplady, of the county and parish aforesaid, for
£300, to be paid in London by bills of excLange when said Eliz. and Rebecca
come of age or married. The condition is, that John Tiplady, being about to
marry Rebecca Wythe, confirms a part of his personal estate to his said two
daughters; but the bond is to be void if said Rebecca Wythe gives them each
a young negro. Witnesses: Jn° [X] PhLillips, John Watkins, May 3, 1687.

Will of John Tiplady, * of the parish and county of York Octobr ¥* 23 Day
Anog. Decem 1688.” To each of my two daughters Elizabeth & Rebecca Tip-
lady equal parts of my estate according to an agreement with my wife before
our marriage, dated May 3, 1687. And I divide equally between my wife Re-
becca Tiplady and my daus. Elizabeth, Rebecca & Susanna Tiplady 25£ part
of the half part of my Mother Hethersall's Estate confirmed with her hand,
May 7, 1687, the said half part being my wife, Rebecca's portion, due at my
mother Hethersall's decease, and said 25£ to be paid within 3 years after date
of agreement. And for remainder of mother Hethersall's Estate it shall be
divided between my wife and daughter Susanna & the child my wife goes
with. My two daus., Elizabeth & Rebecca, to stay with my wife until 18 years
or married unless any of their relatives are willing to keep them. To York
parish a thousand pounds of tobacco or 5£ sterl to buy a piece of plate with
my name Engraved thereon, said tobacco or money to Le paid by my over-
seers 3 years after my decease. To my natural! mother Rath Tiplady one
horse called by the name of Graye which I had by the marriage of my late
wife. To sister Elizabeth Lucas and each of my overseers 20s. to buy them
rings. To John Read, son of Thomas Read deced, of Warwick county one
gunn which he hath already in possession. If all my children die without
heirs, give my land to Robert Lucas and Charles Lucas, sons of John Lucas
of Warwick Co. [Wife executrix. Friends m" Edward Mosse and m’ Robert
Reade overseers of his will. ] Jonx Tirrapy.

Witnesses: Charles Minnis, Hen: Watking, Thomas [X] Warde. Proved
November 10, 1689.

December ye 18t 1689. An order that Elizabeth Tiplady be possessed of
one negro given to said E. T. by her grandfather, Col. Thomas Beale,

Inventory of the estate of Major James Goodwyne, deceased, appraised by
Edward Moss, ffrancis Reade, John Sheldon, Ralph Walker, according to an
order, dated 24" November, 1687, produced in court January 5, 1637-'88,
Total amount, £542.16.00.

November 7, 1689. M* Thomas Ballard ordered to pay Mr Peter Good-
wyn a legacy given him by Major Robert Baldry.*
1+*Natural mother” meant at this time ‘* one’s own mother,” as opposed to mothar by law.

?Robert Baldry came to Virginia in 1635,aged 18. He became a justice and Major. Peter
€Goodwin was his godson. (Hotten's BEmigrants to Virginia, and York county records.)

560




Susapnal Goodwin, spinster, gives a calf to her god-daughter, Susanna
Leightevhouse, daughter of Mr. Rubert Leightenhouse, November 2, 1691.

January 25, 1691-'92. On petiti n of M* John and M’ Peeter Goodwyn
for their shares of their father's estate in the hands of their mother-in-law,!
M Blanche Goxiwyn, ordered that Capt. Thomas Ballard, Capt. Thomas
Mourtfort, and M° Ediward Moss meet at her house and adjust Major Good-
win's accounts.

‘*Wee whose names are hereunder written, haveing in obedience to an ord"
of Yorke Co™* beariug date y* 25'" of January, 1691-'92, app*? at y® house of
Madam Blanche Goodwyn to Audite y°* Accounts & Estate of Majo' James
Goodwyn, lately deceased, and doe finde y* y* said Goodwyn dyed seized of y*
psonall Estate of five hundred forty-two pounds & sixteen shillings as y* said
Estate was appraised, & vy above James Goodwyn stood indebted att y* time
unto John Jefiryes, Esq’, of London, Merchant, y° full sume of Three hun-
dred seventy-two pounds, three shillings, five pence, And y* after y* said debt
is paid there remaines due to every ctilds pte y° full sume of Twenty-one
pounds, six shillings, seven pence, there being seven children and y* widdow,
and this wee make report of According to y¢ above ordo to y¢ Co™. Witnesse
our bands this 4'® day of fleb™”, 1691-'92.

‘* THO. BALLARD, Tro. MOUNTFOBT,
**Epwarp Moss. "

Will of John Aduston names wife Elizabeth, danghter Jane Rogers, wife of
John Rogers; grandchidren Richard, Agnes and Elizabeth Dixon. Dated
January 17, 1677.

Anindenture between John Rogers, who married Agnes, daughter of Joane
Adleston [Aduston], relict of John Adleston, deceased, and guardian to Adle-
ston Rogers, his son, by Agnes, his wife, and Col. Thomas Beale. Recorded
June 24, 1687.

Will of Richard Dixon names son James Dixon, wife Damazinah?® Dixon,
daughters Agnes, Rebecca and Anne, mother Agnes Rogers; to daughter Ann
my brick house with yard, housing and orchard thereto belonging so far as a
house commonly known and called the Hill house, 20 shillings apiece for
rings to mother Agnes Rogers and Thomas Nutting, Proved January 24,
1706. ’

John Goodwin, churchwarden of Yorke parish, 1694.

flebry 24, 1697-'98. Mr peter Goodwin's Deed of sail from Mr Robert
Goodwin & Ann his wife was this day proved by acknol®*in Co™ to the said
Peter, and is ordo™ to record.

November 24®, 1698. Peter Goodwin & Rebecka, his wife, daughter and
Legatee of John Tiplady, deceased, Arresting William Watkins & Rebecka his
wife, Adm’ of y* last will & Testament of John Tiplady, deceased, to this Co™
in an account upon y* case for one-fourth part of y* Testat™ estate amounting
to y* sume of nineteen pounds, five shillings and three pence or thereabouts,
& y* Def* failing to appe & answere y same ordo’ is granted ag'. Cap'

1'Mother-in-law mesxt then step-mother, 2 First wife was Ann Rogers.
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Thomas Bartar, Hizh sherr a: i S e nest i tolberCGonfirtued. if Lo ¢ru<eth
Bot ¥* sard Def: then to appe & arswere v+ sume,

Will of Ruth Tiplady [ber marke and seal, proved November 24, 1053,
Aged and infirm; daughter Elizabeth Lucas, grandsons John Kead, Tk s
Read, John Smyth: granddaughters Rediey (7). Elizabeth Lucas, Margaret
Lucas, Ruth Roscow, Sarah Vauson, Saral Swyth and Susanua Tipludy: pives
to William James *“if he ftayes to finish y¢ Crop, one cow culfe & hLee to be
cloathed from head to foot, and if tobaccoe bee made ' 30 shillings shall be
raised to buy rings for Henry Smyth, John Lucas & Elizabeth Powell.

Deed from Matthew Tiplady, of London, merchant, appointing his loveing
unkle, 3" Jo* Goodwin, of ¥* pish & county of Yorke, gent, his attorney, to
make sale of all goodes as I shall at my departure out of the Collony cf Virgs
leave with him, &c. 21 feb'r, 1695, Witnesses: Jokn Rogers, Adduston
Rogers, Thomas Rogers. Proved in court May 24% 1699,

M~ John Goodwin, justice. 1699,

July y¢ 24", 1701. M Eliz. Goodwin granted adm® of y* Fstate of her
deceascd husband, Cap* John Goodwin, who dyed without will, M* Rob*
Goodwin, M7 John Wyth & Mr Joo Moore, securities,

Inventory and Appraism® of the estate of Capt. Jn® Goodwin, decensed the
15" day of August, 1701, by Edward Moss, Jn* Rogers, Tho* Chismar, jun?,
William Watkins. Total value, £339, 5. 3. [Among the items: 1 Large
Looking glass, 1 old silver Tankard, 2 old silver spoous, a large Tumlier. a
large dram cup, and a money box ; 1 large seale Ring, 1 cain w' an old siiver
head, 60-- of wool at 6%, 35 head of old and young cattle, valued at 61£, 5., 5.,
8 calves at 10°, 30 old & young sheep, 2 negro men (Cap' & Dick, tu £ ;3
negro women, Lucy, Rachell & firanck, £34; 3 negro children (Humprey L,
Sam, and , £43). Not included in the inventory were several bills due
the estate, and a parcell of hoggs in ¥¢ wood.

Will of Blanche Goodwyn, *‘of Yorke Parish, in the County of Yorke,
widow” : one hhd of sweet-scented tobacco to daughter Elizabeth Blink-
born; to grandchildren James & Elizabeth Duke, one cow apiece and **.1] the
rest of my estate I give to my 2 sons Robert and Martyn Goodwyn to be
equally divided,” and make them my exors. Dated September 22, 1701.

Signed, Her
BLaNCEE B Goopwry.
Mark.
Witness : James Sclater, Jn Morris, Sarah Brown.

Deed of Peter Goodwin, of y* parish and county of York, and Robert
Goodwin and Anne his wife, of ¥* pish of Hampton in ¥°© county of York, the
latter for 10 pds sterling sell to former Waronimcock Island, on the north
side of Pamunkey River, in ¥° upper part of King and Queen, formerly
called Pamunkey Neck. 11 Nov., 1695. Rec. ffeb'” 24, 1697. Witnesses :
John Goodwyn, Matthew Goodwyn, and Martin Goodwin,

Alice Beale, ‘‘widow and ex* of my husband Col. Thomas Beale, of the
parish and county of York, deceased, out of the natural love and affection she
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bears her grandson Peter Goodwian.” all her lands on Back Creek in the parish
and county of York, to him the said Peter Goodwin and his wife's life, and
after their decease to redound to wy grandson Thomas Beale, of Rappahannock,
and his heirs, male, but if he die without heirs, male, then the said land to be
to the use of my grandson Peter Goodwin. And as to my personal estate in
general unto my said grandson Peter Goodwin, excepting my bed and one
negro girl that now waits upon me, hee paying me 600 pds of tobacco and
caske to buy me necessaryes to support my old age, as also the said Peter
Goodwin to find me with sufficient cloathing during my life, and pay all my
debts, and to keep me from all the incumbrances of the world. This 23 Sep-

tember, 1702,
Her

Avrice X BearLz.
Mark.

Signed in the presence of John Rogers, John Aduston Rogers.
Rec. September 24, 1702.

Novembr y* 29*", 1702. Mary Banks, a mulatto and servant to Martin Good-
win, did this day in open court bind over her danghter Hannah Banks, a mul-
latto, unto M'. Peter Goodwin, w* him to dwell and serve untill shee attain unto
the age of twenty-one years; and it is ordered that hee, the said Peter Good-
win, see the child baptized into y° Christian ffaith, and (as soon as she comes
to maturity) to teach, or cause to be taught, her y* creed, y* Lords prayer, and
the ten commandments in the vulgar tongue, if shee be capeable to attaine
unto ye same, and 'tis further ordered that at the end or expiration of the said
terme of twenty-one yeares to pay his said servant Hanah Banks three barrells
of Indian corne and cloathing according to law.

Isaac Steele, commander of the ship Reformacon belonging to Whitehaven,
makes over to Martin Goodwin one servant named Charles Roane, belonging
to the city of Dublin, in Ireland, to serve 64 vears in consideration of 1500 pds
of sweet-scented tobacco and caske in hand. Dated 24 April, 1703. Proved
May 24, 1703.

Will of John Morce!: To wife the use of plantation during life if she be
not with child, but if she be with child the use only till my child is of age and
half of it afterwards. Should the child die my lacds shall fall to Martin
Goodwin and Dixon Nailor, the two sons of my two sisters; viz., after the
decease of my wife. To Elizabeth Nailor, daughter of Dixon Nailor, £10 sterl-
ing. To dear wife all personal and movable estate after debts are paid. Wife
sole exec . Jume 6, 1702. Proved July 24, 1702,

Test: Philip Moody, Robert X Roberts, William Hansford.

Will of Alice Beale, ‘‘ of the parrish and county of York, widdow of Thomas
Beale, Esquire,? late of the said Parrish and county in y® Collony of Virginia,
being weak in boedy bat in sound and perfect mind and memory, praised be
God,”’ desires to be buried in her garden upon ye plantacon I now dwell at and
neare the grave of my late deceased husband as possible ; to grandson Thomas

1The name Morce is not the same as Moss. John Morce was son of Mrs. Jane Morce and
left a child David (posthumous), as appears from a subsequent deed. It would seem from
this will that Blanche Goodwin was Blanche Morce before she married Maj. James Goodwin.
3 In the early part of this century only the members of the conncil were called “ esquire.”
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Beale one shiiling sterling money of Eucland: to granddaughter Elizabeth
Powell and her two children each of them one shilling sterling: to great-grand-
son Thomas Reade, son of firancis Reale, the sum of 25 pds sterling to be
paid at 18 years by Peter Goodwin, vne of my executors; to my great-grandson
Benjamin Reade, son of Francis Reade, 25 lbs. sterling at 18 years to be paid
by Sarah Brown, one of my executors; either dying the survivor to enjoy both
legacies, and if both die before 18, then the 2 legacies to be to the proper use
of my executors; loving Cousin Robert Jones a heifer; various legacies of
beds, negroes, etc., to grandson Peter Goodwin; to Cousin Sarah Brown, wife
of William Brown, 2 negroe women, etc., and household furniture, and the
plantation known as the * Bay Trees,” containing 200 acres, which my deceased
husband Col. Thomas Beale, Esquire, was possessed with, and to her heim,
and, for want of such heirs the same to Peter Goodwin my grandson and his
heirs; to Cousin Sarah Brown, wife of William Brown, the plantation on Back
Creek about 300 acres, during her life and after her death to my said grand-
son Peter Goodwin. My grandson Peter Goodwin is to have at all times egress
and regress for his or their stock, to feed and range upon y* ‘‘Bay Trees”
plantation. Grandson Peter Goodwin and loving Cousin Sarah Brown to be

executors of this will.
Signm.

AvLicE § § B BEaLE. [Y* Seal. |
Signed, sealed, and published in psents of Hugh Owen, John Walker,
Signm. 8ignm.

Samuel Cooper, Thomas E Edmuns, Elizabeth R Ridge. Proved fleb. 24, 1702.

Jno Rogers, of York-Hampton pish, his gift to Elizabeth Goodwyn, y° eldest

daughter of Martin Goodwyn' and Barbara his wife, one negro girl about 2

years old, named Lucy; should she die before age or marriage, then I, the

aforesaid Jn . Rogers, in the parish, etc., give the said Lucy to all the rest of

my grandchildren that now or shall be born of my daughter Goodwin's body

according to priority of years.' Martin Goodwin, Dixon Naylor. Acknow-
ledged October 8, 1713.

September 19, 1715. Ann Goodwin permitted to keep an ordinary at
Gabriel Maupin’s house in Williamsburg. Securities: Philip Moody and
William Hansford.

Will of Capt. Thomas Nutting, of Charles parish in y* county of York:
Gives his daughter Jane Nutting the plantation where I now dwell and her
heirs, failing such then to my granddaughter Elizabeth Sclater and her heirs;
the plantation at the head of Charles river to his daughter Katherine Sheldon,
and if she dies without issue, then to my son-in-law William Sheldon. To
daughter Eliz* Doswell a negro and a negro girl, one silver cann, and an equal
share of my cattle I have in the Islands: to son-in-law Capt. William Sheldon
my seal ring, cane and sword; 4 choice negroes to my daughter Jane Nutting,
and after my wife's share is taken out, one good feather bed and ail furniture
to it, my riding horse called ffox and all my money in England, in whose hands
soever, and four cows. In case my daughter Mary Sclater dies before divi-
sion, her estate to go to her 3 children Elizabeth, Agnes, and Mary. Son-in-

1 From this it appears that Martin Goodwin (p. 7) married Barbara Rogers, daughter of
John Rogers,
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law Capt. William Sheldon and Jane Nutting, executors. Dated July 11, 1717
Proved September 18&, 1717.

Will of Martin Goodwin, dated May 12, 1718, To daughter Elizabeth &
shillings & to every one of my children 5s A piece. HBis wife, Barbara Good-
win, to have the whole care, and to be executrix. Witnesses: William Moss,
Jno. Cary, Peter Goodwin. Proved March 16, 1718-19.

Will of Elizabeth Goodwin, widow, of the parish of Yorkbampton,® in the
county of York, in the Colony of Virginia. To daughter Elizabeth Moss a
negro girl, six silver spoons marked E. G., six steers, & 1 hhd of Leafe To-
bacco 700 neat & all my wearing apparell; to son James Goodwin, 4 negroes,
old silver porringer, ope dram cup marked J. G., one old silver spoon marked
J. G.; to daughter Rachel Wise, 4 negroes & one silver tumbler marked J. T.
& one hhd of Leafe tubacco 700 neat & p* of blue China Curtains & Vallins,
the best bed bolster, blankett, pillows & rugg; to son John Goodwin, 4 ne-
groes, the 3d best bed bolster, blankets, rugg & pillows & one silver tankard
marked E. G. To Susanna Goodwin, 4 negroes, the second best bed, bolster,
blankett, Rugg & pillows, six silver spoons marked with E. G. & one young
sorrell horse with my riding saddle & bridle. All my tobacco in England and
all that shall hereafter be left to be equally divided between my 3 children,
Rachel Wise, John Goodwin, & Susanna Goodwin. All the rest of my estate
to be equally divided between my 5 children Eliz* Moss, James Goodwin, Ra-
chel Wise, John Goodwin, & Susanna Goodwin. John Goodwin and Rachel
Wise, executors. Witnesses: William [X] Hillsman, Rebecca [R] Goodwin,
Peter Goodwin. Dated December 23, 1718; proved March 16, 1718-'19.

In the action of trespass mpon the case between Mildred Goodwin (late
Mildred Reade) vs Robert Philippson. March 21, 1719-"20.

Will of James Goodwin, in the year of our Lord 1719, September 21.
«], James Goodwin of the parish of York Hampton.” Gives his property to
his child, if his wife should prove with one; otherwise, to his brother and
gisters, John Goodwin, Rachel Wise, and Susanna Goodwin. His brother
John Goodwin is ‘“to keep the estate, to have the use of the land, wasting no
timber nor clearing no ground, keeping the old fields cleared; to school and
bring up the child.” Proved November 16, 1719. (See page 8.)

Will of Richard Slater, of Charles parish, names daughters Elizabeth, Ag-
nes, and Mary Slater; his children to remain till of age with their grand-
mother, their uncle and aunt William Sheldon and Katherine, his wife; and their
uncle and aunt, John and Jane Lowry. Appoints as executors William Shel-
don, Elizabeth Nutting, and Katherine Sheldon. Proved November 17, 1718.

Lawrence Smith & Mildred his wife, late Mildred Goodwin, complts., va.
John Goodwin, ex° of James Goodwin, deced., &c. 1720.

Will of John Doswell, jr., of Charles parish, in York county. Names sons
Edward, John, and Thomas Doswell. To his son Edward, one silver tankard
marked J. D., one gold ring posy *in Christ & thee my comfort be,”” one pairsilver
shoe-buckles; to son John, my silver-hilted sword marked J. D. on the hilt, one

1 The two parishes of York and Hampton were united in 1706, and called York-Hampton.
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goilnne muarkad Po 8. and all my silver shirt-buttons, «oven pair, one silver
brooch, w1 one negro boy; to Thomas Doswell, a silver «.ue marked TNE!

one large-sicht equare-barrel gun: pames father, John Doswell. wife Eliza-
beth, and friend Thomas Chisman. Dated April 25, 1715: proved December
15, 1718.

Will of Elizabeth Reade [widow of Col. George Reade], proved Tanuary
24, 1656-'7. Names sons Robert, Francis, Thomas, and Benjamin—the two
last under age; daughter Elizabeth Chisman, and graudchildren, Mildred,
Elizabeth, and Thomas Chisman; son Mr. Thomas Chi:man, Mr. Edward
Moss, and Mr. Thomas Barber made overseers to see her will performed.

Will of Mary Read [mutilated]. Legacies to children. of my large silver
tankard, silver porringer, silver tumbler, and silver spoous; names sons Fran-
i3, John, and Samuel; granddaughter Mary Nelson, and grandson William
Nelson. Makes son John sole executor, and desires Mr. Benjamin Reade and
Thomas Reade to be trustees of her will. Proved November 20, 1722,

Will of Robert Reade, of York-Hampton parish, names children: John, of
King and Queen county; Margaret, wife of Thomas Nelson; Thomas, George,
Samuel and Mildred. Division to be made of 745 acres (bought of my son
John Reade) being in 8t. Stephen’s parish, King and Queen county, between
my three sons, George, Samuel, and Francis Reade, when George comes of
age. by Mr. John Baylor, Mr. Thomas Nelson,? Capt Law. Smith, brothers
Bepjamin and Thomas Reade, and my son John Reade. Wife, Mary Reade.
Bro. Thomas Reade, Cosen Cap* Lawrence Smith, & my son-in-law M. Thomas
Nelson, appointed overseers of this will. Proved March 16, 1712.

Will of Thomas Chisman ? names children, Ann, Mildred. Georce, Thomas,
and Elizabeth, to each of whom he gives a negro girl; names Edmund, an-
other son, to whom he gives one feather bed and furniture, six head of female
cattle, and other stock; similar legacy to son John. ‘I give 57£ 16s. & 10
pence in hands of Micajah Perry, merchant of London—3U£ thereof to son
Edmund, the residue to son John.” Residue of estate to wife for life, and
after her decease, to children Ann, Mildred, George, Thomas, and Elizabeth,
except my silver-hilted sword, my long gun, and my little paper trunk, which
I give to my son Edmund Chisman; and my two Guns called Warner, and old
little gun, which I give to my son George Chisman, and my short gun to my
son Thomas. Wife, Ann Chisman, executrix, and son Edmund executor.
Dated November —, 1722; codicil obliterated, dated November 6, 1722; will
proved January 21, 1722-'23,

On the petition of Aduston Rogers and Mary Wagstaff, widow of Basil
Wagstaff, deceased, setting forth that the said Rogers and Ler husband were
securitys for Rarbara Goodwin's faithful admin. of y¢ estate of Martin Good-
win, her deceased Husband, and said Barbara having since intermarried with
one John Powers [ordered that, on petitioners giving sufficient bond, the es-

1Evidently Thonias and Elizabeth Nutting.
2Grandfather of General Thomas Nelson.
3This Thomas Chi-man was son of Captain Thomas Chisman (who died in 1715), and
grandson of Edmund Chisman, who settled with his brother, Lieutenant-Colonel John Chis-
man, in York county.
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tate of said orpbans to be surrendered to them). May 18, 1724. John Powers
appeared in court.

March 17, 1728, John Goodwin's peticon against a Road into his neck is
continued till next court.

Will of Rev. Jas. Sclater.! Legncies of negroes and a hundred pounds apiece
to each of his daughters, Martha Sclater and Mary Tabb, names sons John and
James, to the last of whom he gives one silver tankard, one pair of hand-irons,
and one-half of my books; the other half of my books I give to son John

_ Bclater, excepted those I bave given to my wife. A codicil mentions that

Martha Sclater has married John Brody. Proved August 17, 1724.

Will of James Sclater,® of York county. Eldest son Richard Sclater,
mother Mary Sclater his other son, William Sheldon. Captain William Shel-
don appointed executor May 15, 1727.

Will of Elizabeth Doswell ¢; names sons Thomas Doswell and Edward Dos-
well, daughter Elizabeth, grandson John Moss; makes sister Katherine Shel-
don, executrix. Proved January 15, 1727.

Will of Capt Wm. Sheldon®; his wife Katherine to have his whole estate for
life, and then to goto William Sheldon [Sclater] and his next of kin, to remain
in the name of Sheldon forever, legacies to Agnes Sclater and Mary Sclater, to
cousin Elizabeth Conier, cousin Mary Lansdale, and daughter Anne Pamer; 2
bbls. Indian corn to Anne Sutherland, she alway so fetch it away yearly before
Christmas. In case of William Sheldon [Sclater] dying without heirs, I lend
my estate to Mary Sclater for life, daughter of Richard Sclater. Proved May
15, 1727.

November 17, 1727. Elizabeth Goodwin ¢ prays an order for her estate in
the hands of Albritton Wagstaffe.

August 18, 1730.

The action upon the case between Benjamin Catton and John Porter Good-
win,? is dismissed.

November 15, 1731.

On the petition of John Goodwin and Elizabeth, his wife, ag' Robert Armi-
stead, the settlement of the estate of John Doswell is admitted to Record, &e.

Will of Peter Goodwin, of York-Hampton parish, in the county of York.
Legacies to son John, grandscn John Goodwin [under age), daughter Anne,

1The neck between Wormeley's Creek and Back Creek is still called Goodwin’s Neck.

2 Minister of New Pocoson, or Charles Parish,

3 Bon of Rev. James Sclater, next above,

4 Daughter of Captain Thomas Nutting, and wife of John Doswell, Jr., of York county.

§ Captain Wm. Sheldon married Katherine Nutting, dasughter of Captain Thomas Nut-
ting. She married, dly. Robert Armistead, son of Anthony Armistead, of Elizabeth
City courty, brother of Col. John Armistead, of the council. (See Armistead pedigree, be-
ginning with July QUARTERLY, 1897.)%

¢ [his Elizabeth Goodwin was not, as I take it, s daughter of Captain John Goodwin,
but of Martin Goodwin. (See page 9.)

7This name confirms the suggestion on page 6, that Rachel Goodwin’s mother wss a
Porter.

*See Volume I of this work, pp. 105-156.
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son Peter, his land in King William county, known by the name of Warra-
nimcock Island, to son James for Iife, half the highland of the samne within
the swamp, paying to his brother half the quit rent; daughter Rachel Good-
win, grandson Peter Goodwin, wife Rebecca Goodwin, daughter Ann Good-
win, cozen John Goodwin. Dated 3 October, 1731. Pr. March 20, 1731-2.
Witnesses John Worledge.

Rebecca Goodwin's executor's bond, security Jobn Goodwin and Edward
Moss, dated March 20, 1731-'2, in the penalty of £1,000 sterling.

Report of Lawrence Smith, Tho* Nelson and Philip Lightfoot, appointed

to settle the estate of John Doswell, deceased, that the share of Eliz* Doswell,
who lately intermarried with John Goodwin, the younger, is 55 Pounds carrt
money, and Robert Armistead, Gent. in behalf of that Estate agreed to pay
that sum. 13 November 1731. (Page 10.) ¥

February 19, 1732." In the action of debt between Matthew Goodwin, plf.
and Wm. Hansford, Deft., the Deft. being dead the suit is abated.

John Goodwin sworn cornet to Capt. Rogers’ troop; John Goodwin, jr.,
appointed constable, February 17, 1734-'5; John Goodwin, one of the justices,
1739, ete.

Jobn Goodwin produces his commission as sheriff. Edmund Smith and
Robert Sheild, his securities. July 21, 1740.

Robert Goodwin, aged 33, in 1736, his affidavit.

At a court for York county, &c., May 15, 1738. Peter Goodwin and Mary,
his wife, one of the daughters, and Starkey Robinson, grandson of John Rob-
inson, deceased, by Judith Robinson, widow, his next friend, plfs., va. Mary
Robinson, widow, and admix. of said John Robinson, and Anthony Rob-
inson, infant grandson and heir of the said John, defts, &c. (Page 13.)

Will of Elizabeth Nutting.! of the parish of Charles, in the county of York,
widow, being very aged and infirm, to grandson Robert Armistead, son of
Robert Armistead and Catherine, his wife, the tract of land where she now
lives, legacies to grandson Booth Armistead, to Elizabeth Rogers, daughter of
Adduston Rogers & Catherine, his wife, grandson William Lowry, grand-
danghter Angelica Armistead. To Robert Armistead, my grandson as afore-
said, her silver tankard; granddanghter Elizabeth Goodwin, my seal-skin
trunk ; to each of her grandchildren and great grandchildren under 14 years,
20 shillings to be paid in current money, except my grandson Richard Sclater,
to whom I give my half-pint silver can; grandsons Thomas Doswell, Edward
Doswell, granddaughter Elizabeth Moore, to youngest son lately born of
William Lowry & Jane his wife, my silver pint can, on condition that he be
christened Thomas Nutting, otherwise I give the can to grandeon, Booth
Armistead. All residue of estate to daughter Catherine Armistead for the
benefit of her 3 children, Booth, Robert and Angelica. To Frances Armistead,
daughter of Ellyson Armistead, 20 s. to buy her a ring. To Elizabeth Lowry,
my negro boy called James. Catherine Armistead sole ex .

1 She was the wife of Captain Thomas Nutting.
*For pp. 10 and 13 see pp. 427 and 430, this volume.
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Witnesses: Thomas Kerby, James Kerby, James Manson. Dated Septem-
ber 13, 1733.  Proved September 15, 1735

March 15, 1741: In the suit in chancery between Peter Goodwin and Mary !
his wife; Frauces Calthorpe and Mary Calthorpe, spinsters, infants under
the aze of 21 years, by the said Peter and Mary their guardians, Plaintiffs, vs.
James Culthorpe, Defendant, Ordered that the line determined by Francis
Heyward and Dan! Moore, Gent, in company with the surveyor of this county
be the established line of division. (Page 13.) ¥

February 18, 1744. James Goodwin exhibited an account of the estate of
Thomas Chisman, an orphan. Appointed surveyor of the roads.

John (Goodwin, a justice of the Peace, 1744.

Will of Peter Goodwin, of Charles Parish, ‘‘in the county of York, being
very sick,” ete. To son John all my landes in King William county, and my
other parcel of land in York county bought of Wm. Sheldon Sclater ; to him
also my silver Tankard and my silver-hilted sword and my new arms. Lega-
cies of negroes, etc., to daughters Rebecca, Mary, Ann Goodwin, and to son
John all the residue of my estate. My exors to have the rents of my lands
and property to bring up and school my children, & my son John to have the
beoefit of his part of the estate when he comes of age, und my daughters to
have their parts when they come of age or marry. Appoints brother John
Goodwin executor. Witnesses: Seymour Powell, Tho* Charles, John Good-
win. September 8, 1747. Proved 21 September, 1747. (Page 13.)

———>  Will of Rebecca Goodwin, of York-Hampton Parish. Legacies of plate
——

and pegroes to son John Goodwin, and his brother James Goodwin, grand-
daughters Rebecca Coodwin and Alice Goodwin, daughters of Capt. John
Goodwin, daughter Rachel Charles, son Peter Goodwin's three daughters,
Rebecca, Mary & Anne Goodwin, grandson Peter Goodwin. Rest of estate to
be divided into § parts: 3 parts to my children John Goodwin, Rachel Charles
& Jawmes Goodwin; & the other two parts, one for my daughter Anne Good-
win's two daughters, Rebecca Goodwin & Alice Goodwin, to be divided at age;
but if either should die, her part to go to grandson John Goodwin, son of
Capt. John Goodwin, & the other part to be divided between my son Peter
Goodwin's 3 daughters as aforesaid. My 2 sons John & James Goodwin ex-
ecutors. Dated September 12, 1748. Proved 21 November, 1748. Witnesses:
William Aduston Kogers, Elizabeth X Burcher, Barbary Aduston »® Rogers.
He¢r mark. Her mark,
Settlement of the Estate of Rebecca Goodwin, by which it appears that
Capt. John Goodwin for Rebecca & Alice Goodwin received one-fifth part of
the estate = £56, 19, 9; Jn" Goodwin, jr., received one-fifth, James Goodwin
tbe same, Tho" Charles for his wife one-fifth part, and Rebecca Goodwin,
Mary Goodwin & Ann Goodwin received one-tifth part. February 20, 1748.

Will of Sheldon Goodwin, of the county of York. To Constance Goodwin,
his wife, all his estate. Witnesses: H. Wythe, Edw. Wright, Mary Wythe.
Dated September 5, 1751. Proved December 16, 1751.

1 She was Mary Robinson and married, first, Elimelech Caltborpe (son of James. son of
James, son of Christopher CaltLorpe, who came to Virginia about 1622).

*Page 430, this volume.
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Will of James Goodwin, of York-Hargt o parish. Legacy of slaves,
money and Lis silver-hilted sword to Lis « 1 John Gowdwin: to son Peter my
land in Kiog William county, eix neg . suver tackard and £35; son Robert
Goodwin the half of my land in Louisa Lulf the water mill & 5 negroes, a
bed, etc., and half my stock that is on the plantation at my death; to son
James the other half of my land in Louisaand the other half of my water mill
& 5 negroes, as well as the other half of my st 0 on the land in Louisa at
my death, with one bed & furniture. To daughter Rebecca 2 negroes and
£200 current money at age or marriage, & one feather bed & furniture and
my young mare ; to daughter Elizabeth Goodwin a similar legacy; to daughter
Diana a similar legacy; to daughter Rachel a similar legacy ; gives to Ann
Chisman 2 young negroes for life. Residue of estate to wife, Elizabeth Good-
win, "for life, to be disposed of at her death, but if she should marry, then to
be divided between my wife and six dauglters, Rebecca, Elizabeth, Diana,
Rachel Goodwin, Mary Moss & Ann Chisman. Elizabeth Goodwin sole ex*,
Proved December 14, 1757. Witnesses: John Goodwin, James Goodwin.

Appraisement of James Goodwin's Estate in York, 0t - £]1986 9 0
o ¢ g o King William,.. 323 16 8
L o ‘e . LOUIS&, ________ 597 0 0

Will of John Goodwin “‘in the year 1759, March 2!, of the parish and
county of York, weak in body.” Leuds to his son John his plantation in
Hanover county if he allows my wife the liberty of living there as long as she
lives;: my widow to bring up my children, and at the marriage of mny wife I
give the land in Hanover to my son James Goodwin. To son John nine
negroes for life, & at his death to be divided between my two granddaughters,
Frances & Mary Goodwin, daughters of John Goodwin ; legacies of negroes
to children: James, Thomas, Peter, Rebecca, Susanna, Mary, Anne, Reu-
ben, Alice; to wife the cattle & sheep on the plantation whereon I now
live, except my silver-hilted sword & one silver spoon, which I give to my son
Jobn Goodwin. My stock in King William county of cattle & hogs is to be
sold, & if there is any overplus after settling my brother Peter's estate, the
said overplus to go to my wife. If any of my children who are under age
should die before age, their part or parts to be divided equally among the
survivors, excluding my eldest son, John Goodwin, etc. Wife & son John
Goodwin executors. Proved May 21.1759. Witnesses: James Goodwin, Eliz-
abeth X Moss, Rebecca Goodwin. (Page 10.) ¥

The settlement of the estate June 186, 1760, reported:
By the am't of the Personal Est. as P ace’ in King William
CouUntY, e
By Do in Hanover county, ________
By Do in York county, _oo_____________._.______________

dJobn Goodwin, orphan of Peter Goodwin. in account with John Goodwin,
his guardian. Mentions *‘ sust vs. my brotker, James Goodwin.” 1748.

Robert Goodwin, orphan of James Goodwin, deceased. ‘‘By your net
Pproceeds of the plantation in Louisa 3 Mrs. Eliz* Goodwin.” 1759,

*Page 427, this volume.
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Ann Goodwin, orphan of Peter Goodwin.
James Goodw:n, orphan of James. Eliz* Goodwin, guardian. 1762,

Peter Goodwin's will. (Record mutilated.) To my honored Father two
negroes, also my large silver shoe and knee-buckles, and my saddle and hous-
ing ; to brother John Goodwin, also two negroes and all my wearing clothes;
to nephew John Goodwin, son of my sister Rebecca, 2 negroes ; to sister Re-
becca Goodwin, my desk and two tables, all my tea ware and my plain gold
ring, and a piece of fine Irish linen, if my goods arrive safe from London;
nephew Jno. Chisman, son of my cousin Diana Chisman, £15 current money;
all the remainder of my estate to my cousins Anne Moss, Elizabeth Moss, and
Lucy Moss, daughters of my deceased sister, Elizabeth Moss. Proved Decem-
ber, 1763. (Son of Col. John Goodwin, page 8 )

Will of John Goodwin, of York-Hampton parish, in the county of York.
To son J—— the plantation where I now live and to his heirs, and for want
of such heirs, then to my grandson John Goodwin and his heirs, and for want
of such heirs, to my grandson Martin Goodwin and his male heirs, and if he
should die without such issue, then it to return to my lawful beirs forever; to
grandson Jno. Moss a small tract I lately purchased of Wm. Moss and Robert
Smith, upon condition that he pay to my executor on arriving at age £40 to the
use of my estate, but if he should die, then my grandson, Sheldon Moss, to
have the estate on the same terms; 20 shillings to grandson John Moss for a
ring; names son John Goodwin and 3 granddaughters. . . . ner and Lucy
Moss; pames Rebecca Goodwin, son-in-law James Goodwin, of Hanover
county; my 3 granddaughters, Diana Chisman, Elizabeth Toomer, and Lucy
Moss. The parts of my two grandsons, John Goodwin aund Martin Good-
win, to be kept in the hands of my son John Goodwin until they arrive of age,
and appoints my son John Goodwin ex'or. September 10, 1766. Proved Feb-
ruary 16, 1767.

Teste: Francis Brown, Edward Wright, John Aduston Rogers.

Division of John Goodwin’s estate agreeable to an order of York court,
bearing date 16 February 1767: (Mutilated.)

To the heirs of Rebecca Goodwin, deceased, daughterof the de-

ceased, 12 negroes, . . .. _ .. £367 10 0
To the heirs of Elizabeth Moss, deceased, decedent’s, daughter, 12

B EGTON, ISR S S R SR 360 10 0
John Goodwin's negroes, value, _______.____________ £362 0 0

To receive from the heirs of Rebecca Goodwin, de-

The beirs of Edward Moss, deceased, the negroes’

o 3 U S e L I SR S 360 10 O
To receive from the heirs of Rebecca Goodwin, dec’d, 2 16 8
363 6 8

*Page 425, this volume.
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The negroes belonging . . . Elizabeth Moss, de-
ceased's daughter, &c.. ... _________________ £360 10 O

To Dianna Chisman, daughter of Elizabeth Moss, de-
censed idenon T i L R
To Elizabeth Toomer, daug! er of Edward Moss, de-
ceased, ._...___________. O NSO G ekt
To Lucy Moss, daughter of Eliz* Moss, deceased, ___.

Will of Eliza Moss names sons John, Sheldon, daughter Diana Chisman,
Elizabeth Moss, and Diana and Lucy Moss, son-in-law Thomas Chisman.
Dated 1760.

Will of Mary Sclater,’ cousin Martha Cary, granddaughter Mary Sclater,
grandson William Sclater, who is to bave his father's picture now in my pos-
session ; all cattle and sheep to John Tabb,? except what are marked for my
granddaughter Martha Brodie ; granddaughters Mary Tabb and Mary Brodie
(under age) all my silver plate; husband James Sclater, deceased, Mary
Tabb's sister Elizabeth ; names Rachael Tabb, Mary Brodie's sister, Martha,
names Sarah Brodie, grandson Richard Slater, and his brother William Sheldon
8clater, Jr., granddaughter Rachel Tabb; equal parts to the children of
James Sclater, John Tabb, and John Brodie. May 27, 1737; July 21, 1744

[Mrs. Elizabeth Goodwin, of York county, advertises for a mare. Deliver
her to Mr. Thomas Doswell, of Hanover county, or to Mr. David Jameson, of
York county.—Virginia Gazette, 1771.)

Jobn Goodwin, jr., exor. of John Goodwin, Gent., and likewise his eldest
son and heir—deed to John Moss. Acknowl! Sept. 21, 1772

The estate of Col. John Goodwin, deceased, settled June 11, 1774, by Aarun
Phillips, Edmund Curtis, William A. Rogers.

Among the items:
To John Goodwin, Jun’, account, - __.____._._._._______ £5 16 11

To balance due Peter Goodwin’s estate, 3 1 104
To John Goodwin for the trouble and expence he has been at in

collecting, "= SRR VL R 6 10 0

Contra.

By cash of Martin Goodwin, .___.__________________________ 2 10 0
By cash received of John Moss for the land bought of Moss &

Sini th, SRR S S S 40 0 o
By balance to Cap* John Goodwin by discharging the aforesaid

debtayiE Tt DD 49 17 7

The estate of Peter Goodwin, deceased, with the estate of Col° John Good-
win, deceased, 1774. (Son of Col. John Goodwin. ) N

Will of Elizabeth Goodwin (dated August 2, 1780, proved 17 June, 1782)
of the county of York, in the parish of York-Hampton. To granddaughter
Elizabeth Pescud, 50 pds. due me from Mr. Pescud for the mill rent. To
grandson Edward Moss, 50 lbs. current money; to granddaughter Mary Hob-

1 Widow of Rev. James Sclater.
3 Col. John Tabb, of Elizabeth City county, burgess, etc.
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day, negro Lucy and her increase, she paying to her tw. sisters, Mildred Hob-
day and Nancy Buckner Hobday, } part of the valuation of said slave, to be
valued by two men on onth. when the youngest of said legatees shall arrive at 18
years ; to each of the surviving children of deceased son, Thomas Chisman,
£12 current money, except grandson Thomas Chisman, and to him I give £25;
to grandsons George Brown and John Brown, £30, and to granddaughter
Elizabeth Philips, £40; to son John Chisman, a negro, or £106, and one bed
and furniture ; to son Peter, a negro ; to son Robert, negro woman; grand-
daughter Elizabeth Garland Goodwin, negro girl; lends to daughter Rebecca
Mask, negro girl called Black Sal and £40 current money, and after her death
give the same to my geanddanghter Elizabeth Muask, and in case of her death,
to be divided among surviving children of said Rebecca Mnsk; a negro girl,
Billy, to daughter Elizabeth Blackwell; to daughter Diana Wallace negro
Rose and youngest child; to daughter Rachel Mallory, negro Nancy, and
£50, and a negro boy ; to granddaughter Anna Chisman, daughter of son John
Chisman, a negro child now up the country; to son-in-law John Goodwin, his
bond ; to friend Barbara Rogers, £10; to my negro men Hazard and Dick,
40s. apiece. Residue of my estate to be equally divided between my children
John Chisman, Elizabeth Blackwell, Diana Wallace. Rachel Mallory: grand-
sons James Goodwin, Littleton Goodwin, and Wilson Bailey; sons John
Chisman and Robert Goodwin and friend Thomas Pescud, my ex’ors. Wit~
pesses: Bernard Elliott, Ann X Elliott. (Widow of James Goodwin )

Inventory and appraisement of Peter Goodwin's, Sen., estate, 30th March,
1784

John Moss, appointed guardian of Peter Goodwin, an infant orphan of
John Goodwin, deceased, March 21, 1785.

Appraisement of Capt. John Goodwin's estate, £1,427.12.8.

Martin Goodwin vs. John Moss, administrator of John Goodwin, deceased.
A committee sppointed to settle all accounts of John Goodwin, deceased, who
was executor of John Goodwin, deceased. November 221787,

Susanna Goodwin, orphan of Capt. John Goodwin, deceased, in account
with Martin Goodwin, her guardian. 1794.

Appraisement of estate of Robert Goodwin, deceased, taken August 22, 1800.

Estate of Robert Goodwin in account with Martin Goodwin. Dr. £45 12s.
10d.; Cr. £53 0s. 9d.

Martin Goodwin constable. 1803.
Martin Goodwin, deceased, estate 15th September, 1805, £126.18.0.

Deed of Martin Goodwin, conveying certain slaves to Peter Goodwin, Jr.,
and Allen Chapman, his security. July 3, 1792.

Peter Goodwin, of York-Hampton Parish, and Frances, his wife, to Bernard
Elliot, 120} acres on Back Creek. November 1, 1794.

Peter Goodwin, Jr., and Frances, his wife, to Kempe P. Elliott. Novem-
ber 20, 1818.
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Peter Goodwin, Jr.. bond as comrmissioner of wrecks,  Se curities, Bernard
Elliott, Jobn Stedman, John A. Rogers.

Peter Goodwin's, Sen.. land beicg on north of Back Creek, adjoining
James Ironmonger, divided between the widow, Peter Goeodwin, and John
Curtis in right of his wife Virginia. Mrs. Goodwin is the guardian of Peter,
and the land is of small extent. 1524,

Elizabeth Goodwin's will, dated October 9, 1531, proved December 19,
1831. To son Peter R. Goodwin the silver tankard and family Bible; to Mra.
Elizabeth Tomkins my bell metal skillet; names my two children, Virginia E.
Curtis and Peter R. Goodwin.

Peter Goodwin, Jr., deceased. Inventory and appraisement taken 29th
November, 1832, In account with F. B. Power, administrater.

Will of Peter Goodwin—wife Mahala, two children, friend and brother-in-
law, John Curtis, executor. Witnesses: Robert F. Elliott. Harold Goodwin,
F. W. Power.

Evr1zapera Criy County.

Will of John Moore, of Elizabeth City county, names nephews John,
Edward, Merritt, and Daniel Moore. Gives to Merritt Moore the plantation
whereon John Merritt now lives: bat if he dies, to> my nepkew Daniel Moore.
Nieces Martha Moore, Anne Moore, Rachel Wise, Susannah Goodwin, sister
Elizabeth Goodwin, Nephew William Moore, Uncle William Lowry, and Aunt
Rachel Lowry, Cozen John Lowry. Dated December 11, 1715: proved Janu-
ary 18, 1715-'16. (See page 8.) *

Will of Richard Hawkins names daughters Mary, Phebe, and Elizabeth
Reade, son Anthony Tucker and Thomas Reade, executors. Dated June 12,
1737, proved September 21, 1737.

Deed of Thomas Reade to Robert Armistead, of York county, for an island
near the new mill-dam on Back River, being part of a greater tract, formerly
belonging to Thomas Reade, deceased. father of the said Thomss, and devised
to said Thomas by will of said Thomas, recorded in Elizabeth City county

8September 19, 1738.

Hawkins Reade, son of Thomas Reade and Elizabeth Hawkins, married,
first, Rachel Cartis (sister of Robert Curtis, of York county), and second, Eliza-
beth Moss, widow of Thomas Pescud. His daughter Mary married Robert
Sheild. (See QuarTErLy, IV., p. 59.) ¥*

AssEssor’s Booxs.

York County, 1784 —107% acres on the north side of Back Creek assessed
to John Goodwin, deceased, and 1,200 acres on York River, Chesapeake Bay,
and Back Creek assessed to John Goodwin.

1785.—The first tract to John Goodwin's estate, and the second to John
Goodwin, deceased.

1798.—The first to Peter Goodwin, Sr. , and the second to Peter Goodwin, Jr.

1824.—The first tract to Peter Goodwin's, Sen., estate, the second to Peter
Goodwip, Jr.

*Page 425, this volume.
**See Volume 1V of this work, p. 406.
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1829, —The first tract to Peter Goodwin, Jr.. and the second to Peter
Goodwin, Sen.

1832. —The first tract to Peter Goodwin, Jr., and the latter to Peter Good-
win's, Sen., estate.

1833.—Harold Goodwin succeeds to the second tract.

Nore. —The assessor's books explain the relationship between Peter Good-
win, Sr., who married Elizabeth , who died in 1831, and Peter Good-
win, Jr., who married Frances Chapman, or Toomer. On page 13 it is said
that Peter Goodwin, of Charles parish, son of John Goodwin, ¢ perhaps did
not survive.”” This seems to be an error, as he was doubtless the Peter, Sr.,
who, dying in 1824, left one son, who became Peter, Jr., while Peter, Jr. (son
of Capt. John Goodwin, of Yorkhampton parish, on the other side of Back
Creek, the dividing line of the parishes), became Peter, Sr. Upon the death
of this last Peter, about 1833, his son Harold inherited the twelve hundred
acre tract. The following data should, therefure, have followed the para-
graph devoted to John Goodwin on page 135

Peter Goodwin, Sr. (John, Peter, Peter, James), married Elizabeth, and
had issue: i Peter R. Goodwin, who married Mahala ; and ii. Vir-
ginia E., who married John Curtis.

Peter R. Goodwin (Peter, John, Peter, Peter, James), born in York county,
Va., married Mahala, living in 1832, His will mentions wife Mahala and two
children.

ACENOWLEDGMENT.

It is but right and proper that acknowledgment should be made of the
liberality of Mr. James J. Goodwin, of Hartford. Conn., without whose pecu-
niary assistance this publication would probably not have been made. A
similar gererous spirit on the part of Mr. Goodwin rendered possible the re-
gearches of Henry F. Waters in the English archives. Mr. Waters’ *‘ Glean-
ings” are published in the New England Historical and Genealogic Register,
and are invaluable to those interested in old Virginia families. Judge John
S. Goodwin puts it too strongly (on page 1) when he says of the English origin
of the Goodwins of Connecticut that it has **so far eluded the most diligent
search.” In fact, much has been accomplished, though the information is not
yet as precise as might be desired. *%

*Page 430, this volume. .
ssPage 417, this volume.
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CORRECTIONS AND ADDITIONS.

Page 6.—In fifth line, for “swear to his father’s will,” read “ qual-
ify on his father’s will.”

Page 7.—Major Jumes Goodwin seems to have had two children
by his second wife, Robert and Martin, which would in-
dicate the early death of Robert, the son by the first
wife. Martin Goodwin mariied Barbara Rogers. See
Dr. Tvler’s notes.

Pace 8.—Elizabeth Goodwin, here given, may not have been the
Elizabeth Goodwin who was the ward of Albritton Wag-
staffe. It may have been Elizabeth Goodwin (Martin,
James) on page 58, who was the ward. In that event,
the date of birth given on page 8 would not be the date
of birth of that Elizabeth.

Pace 9.—Peter Goodicin. Strike out the last two lines (in pa-
renthesis), as Dr. Tyler's notes show the correctness of
this line of descent.

Paae 9.—Mary Goodwirn (Peter, John, John, James), should
read Mary Goodwin (Peter, John, John, John, James).

Pace 10.— Rachel Goodwin, ninth line, married Zhomas Charles.

Pace 34— William F. T. Garnett is correct.

Pace 58.—Elizabeth Goodwin, see correction to page 8.

Paar 126.—Appendix V., add JoAn Goodwin and Alice Spencer
were married March y* 21, 1738. Perhaps this is a
second marriage of the John Goodwin mentioned on
page 130, who married Mary Elliott, she dying Novem-
ber 24, 1734. -

Page 130.—Appendix Y., Robert Goodwin appears from Dr. Tyler’s
notes not to have been the eldest son of Major James
Goodwin, that Robert presumably having died, and this
Robert being a son of the second marriage.

*For pp. 6, 7. 8, 9, 10, 18, 34, 58, 126, and 130 see pp. 423, 424, 425, 426, 427,
451, 475, 543, and 547, this volume.



THE GOODWIN FAMILIES IN AMERICA.
By Jupce JoHN S. GOUDWIN.

As a supplement to tl*l_e October, 1897, number of the WiLLIAM
AND MARY QUARTERLY the record of the descendants of Major
James Goodwin was published, and in connection with the same
some twenty-six other Goodwin families were given in Appen-
dixes, many of them supposed to be branches of Major James
Goodwin’s family, but not then fully identified as such. As
stated in the 1897 Supplement the entire collection of data grew
out of an endeavor to trace the ancestrv of the Goodwins of
Brookville, Indiana, whose family history was given in Appendix
A. The publication of that collection by Dr. Tyler was made
possible by the liberality of Hon. James J. Goodwin, of Hartford,
Conn., and New York, and to the same gentleman is due the
credit of this publication, which is intended to correct and sup-
plement the first collection. To carry out this plan and to avoid
unnecessary repetition the lettering of the exhibits in this supple-
ment is made to correspond with the first one, to which reference
must be had. The additional Maryland data is furnished by
Mr. Warren S. Ely, of Doylestown, Pa. It has been impossible
to tabulate and connect much of it as yet, but it is well worthy of
preservation.

It is scarcely necessary to say that no knowledge has been
gained of the origin of the Goopwixs of BROOKVILLE, INDIANA,
in the search for which all this family history has been collected.

Very few corrections and additions have to be made among the
known descendants of Major James Goodwin. The Appendixes
are taken up in their order and modified as needs be, and the
new records follow.

*Pages 417-577, this volume.
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CORRECTIONS AND ADDITIONS TO THE WILLIAM AND MARY
QUARTELRLY MAGAZINE SUPPLEMENT OF
OCTOBER, 1397,

(The marginal pugings throughout this issue refer to the pages
of the 1897 Supplement.)
CORRECTIONS.

Page T1.—0vid Dutler (sixth line from the bottom of the
page), was born August 12, 1849, not 1843,

Page 127.—G. B. Guodwin (fourth line from the top) married
Henrietta Minter, not Dupuy. He is the George Bennett Gond-
win mentioned on page 100.

Page 12?7.—Throphilus Goodwin (third line from bottom of
Appendix W) was born in 1761, not 1744, and was pensioned in
1818, then fifty-seven years old, not seventy-four.

Page 132.—Theophilus Goodwin, same correction as above.

ADDITIONS.

Page 5.—Major James Goodwin's ancestry, as given on page
3, can be traced with reasonable certainty still further. The His-
tory of Buckinaham Cownty, Englind. states that Wilimm
Goodwin, of Bucks and London, born about 1470. had tw~ ¢hil-
dren, John and Blase. Joln Goodwin married Katherine .
and had eighteen children. The eldest was Sir John Gooiwin.
the father of Sir Francis Goodwyn., who was in Virginia in
1620, dying in England in 1634. Sir Francis' son Arthur hal a
daughter, Jane, baptized in 1618. It seems safe to assume that
Henry Goodwin, of Bucks and London, ancestor of Major
James, was one of the eighteen children of Jokn Goodwin. and
a grandson of William Goodwin, as that was the only Goodwin
family in Bucks and as Henrv's son, Roberf, was of the same
age as Sir Francis: Robert’s son, Pefer, of the same age as Ar-
thur; and Peter’s son, Major James, was about the age of Jane,
baptized in 1618. However this may be, it is desirable, in the
light of Dr. Tyler’s discoveries, to reprint the record of the im-
mediate family of Major James.

1. Major James Goodwin (Peter, Robert, Henry, John, Wil-
liam), born in London, married, first, Rachel , born in 1630,
and died in Virginia in 1666 ; second, Blanche Morce, whose will
was proved September 22, 1701. Rachel left five sons and-two

*For pp. 71, 127, 132, and 5 see pp. 488, 544, 549, and 422, this
volume.
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daughters, according o her tombstone, but it is certain that two
sons had died before 1692 without leaving issue, for upon divid-
ing up the estate of Major James Goodwin in that vear the audi-
tors reported to the court that there were seven children and the
widow entitled to shares. As Major James had two sons by his
second wife who survived their mother, and as there is no mention
of any children of the deceased sons, who would have inherited a
child’s share, the conclusion is irresistible that two of the first
wife's sons had died without issue, and that John, Peter,
Matthew, Susannah, Elizabeth., Robert and Martin were the
seven surviving children. Children by first wife: i. Robert. born
, living in 1666; 2, ii. John, born , married Elizabeth
Moore; 3, iii. Peter, born , married Rebecca Tiplady; 4, iv.
Mathew, born , married v. son, born , living in
1666; 5, vi. Susannah, born , married Duke; 6, vii.
Elizabeth. born , married Blinkhorn. Children by sec-
ond wife: 7, viii. Robert, born , married Anne S e
Martin, born married Barbara Rogers

2. Capt. John Goodwin (James), born in England, married
Elizabeth Moore: resided in York Parish and died in 1701, (See

page 6, 1897 Supplement.) Children: i. Elizabeth, born o
married. first, William Mosz, second. Robert Kerby: ii. James,
born ——, married Mildred Reade and d. s . p-: 1iil. Rachel, born

: marrxed Charles Wise; iv. Susannah, born
ried in 1719 v. John (Colonel), born , married

3. Peter Goodwin (James), born probably in Virginia, married
Rebecca Tiplady and died in 1732, (See pages 9 and 10, 1897
Supplement.) Children: i. John (Capt), baptized Dec. 25,
1698, married, first, Elizabeth Doswell, second, Anne ©olG
Elizabeth, baptized 1700-°01, untraced ; iii. Peter, born ——,
married Mrs. Mary (Robinson) Calthorpe; iv. James, born h
married, first, Diana Chisman, second, Mrs. Elizabeth (Chap-
man) Chisman; v. Rachel, born , married Thomas Charles;
vi. Anne, born , untraced.

4. Mathew Goodwin (James), born probably in Virginia about
1658, was living in York county in 1701. The fact that it has
been impossible to get complete data of the children of Robert
and Martin Goodwin, the half-brothers of this man, makes it un-
safe to assign positively any family to Mathew, although it now
appears reasonable that he was the ancestor of several of the

, unmar-




families which cannot trace direct to Major James. John Good-
win (Appendix Y)).F who married Mary Elliot April 22, 1705, in
Christ Church Parish, Middlesex county, Va., canpoot trace
through Robert, as I had supposed, but if a grandson of Major
James at all (and I begin to doubt it), must have been Mathew’s
son. I am very much inclined to believe that this John was the
son of Rev. Benjamin Goodwin, who settled in Gloucester county,
adjoining Middlesex county, in 1700. In Bristol Parish, Din-
widdie county, Va., a Thomas and Martha Goodwin were baptiz-
ing children in 1721 and 1722, and a Mathew and Ann Goodwin
baptized a daughter, Susannah D., in 1736, and a son, John, in
1740. Sheldon Goodwin, dying in York county in 1751, may
have been a descendant of one of the half-brothers, but if Major
James’ first wife was of Porter blood, then John Porter Goodwin,
mentioned in a law suit in 1730, can descend only through
Mathew ; but I cannot reconcile this proposition with the dates if
John who married Mary Elliot was a son of Mathew, as this John
had no son John Porter and the latter was in fact too old to have
been a grandson of Mathew. A Mathew Goodwin was in York Co.
in 1732. It appears probable that the Thomas who settled near
Petersburg, Va.. in Bristol Parish, was son of this older Mathew.
(Sece in this connection Appendix K of this issue.) Omitting,
then, the John who married Mary Elliot in 1705 we have these
probable children: i. Thomas, born about 1685, married Martha
; 11. Mathew, born . living in York county in 1732; iii.
Peter, born , see NOTEs, page 24: iv. John Porter, born
, living in York county in 1730.

5. Susannah Goodwin (James), married Duke, and died
probably before 1701. Duke children: i. James, born g bk
Elizabeth, born :

6. Elizabeth Goodwin (James), married Blinkhorn, and
received a bequest from her stepmother in 1701; no child known
to me.

7. Robert Goodwin (James), a son of the second wife, was
probably born about 1670, and it appears that Appendix Y will
have to be changed by cutting out one generation, and that it was
this Robert, and not his son Robert, who was patron of a school
in 1711, and that he was not the father of John, who married in
1705. The records show that a Martin Goodwin was one of the
orphan children of Robert, but unfortunately do not tell who were

*Pages 547-548, this volume.
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the others. It would thus appear tias the Robert Goodwin in
York county in 1736 (then agz- ! ti.rv-three), 1742 and 1748
was the zon of this Robert. and that b married and had a daugh-
ter, wh» married Samuel Hill, of Yorx county, and perhaps other
daughters—Rebecca and Anne. There may have been, and
doubtless were, others in addition to the following children: i.
Martin, born , d. s. p.; ii. Robert. born , 1703, married

8. Martin Goodwin (James), born in York county, married
Barbara Rogers, daughter of John Rozers, by whose will (page
147, 1897 Supplement) “we learn that Elizabeth was Martin's
oldest daughter. The son Martin, born about 1713, died in 1749
in Elizabeth City county, leaving four children, James, Martin,
Elizabeth and Robert. There were probably more than these chil-
dren: i. Elizabeth, born 1711; ii. Martin, born about 1713, mar-
ried Elizabeth :

Page 2. —Devercaur Goodwin disappears from the Marvland
records, =o far as I can learn, about 1705. I find that on May 4.
1715, a Devereux Gooding was recior of Desborough Hundred,
Buckingham, England. It seems prabable that Devereausx, Sir
Francis and Major James were all descendants of the John and
Katherine Goodwin, of Buckinghar:. or Bucks, who had eighteen
children.

Page 13.—John Goodwin (Peter, Peter, James) had son Peter,
born 1768, who was said probably not to have survived. This is
an error, as shown by page 158. 1897 Supplement, he being
Peter, Sr., as shown by the note on that page.

Pages 15-16.—Thomas Goodwin (JJohn, James, Peter, James)
enlisted in January, 1781, then aged fifteen yvears, under Capt.
Thomas Doswell and Col. Park Goodall, for three months, He
reénlisted in May, 1781, as a private under Capt. William Nor-
vill and Col. John Taylor.

*%
APPENDIX A.
THE GOODWINS OF BROOKVILLE, INDIANA.

Thomas Goodwin, born about 1730-10, was married twice, but
had no children by his second wife. He was a farmer and slave-
owner and a Quaker. His son Thomas, Jr,, is said to have been
born in Pennsylvania, and to have inherited a part of his father’s

*For pp. 147, 2, 13, and 15-16 see pp. 564, 418, 430, and 432-433, this
volume.
**See pp. 476-485, this volume.
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estate about 1515, Probably the facts will be found to be that
Thomas Goodwin, Sr.. resided in Montgomery county, or at least
in Marvland, where the Aiken, Wiles, McKinley, Shaw and Rees
families lived, and that after the death of his first wife he re-
married and moved into Pennsylvania and there died. Thomas
Jr., went along the old National Road to Brownsville. Fayette
county, Pa.. and thence eventually to Brookville. Ind. Thomas
Jr., had brothers and sisters, but their names or descendants are
not known. In the search for records which would identify the
tamily of Thomas Goodwin Sr., much of the data of the various
Goodwin families in America has been collected, and while the
records throw no light on the point in question, they are given to
the Goodwins in printed form in the hope that they may here-
after be the foundation for a complete history. Mr. Warren S.
Ely, of Doylestown, Pa., calls attention to a possible solution of
the Thomas Goodwin Sr., puzzle, as follows:

Richard Goodwin, a planter and slave-owner, died in Anne
Arundel county, Md., about January 1, 1796, leaving wife Mary,
sons Richard, John and Thomas, giving a negro to the latter in
addition to land, and daughters Elizabeth, Ara and Ellinder.
Richard alzo mentions grandchildren and appoints his son-in-law,
Charles Robinson, his executor. It can be assumed that Richard,
a grandfather, apparently surviving some of his children and
mentioning grandchildren among his heirs, might have been
born around 1720, and be about seventy-six years old at death;
that his son Thomas might have been born about 1745, and was
by this will a slave-owner, and might have been the father of
Thomas Jr., born April 27, 1767 ; that Charles Robinson, a son-
in-law, was appointed executor because the sons had gone from
home and “set up” for themselves; and finally it shows that
Thomas Sr. (?), was living in 1796, and might well have sur-
vived until 1810-’15, when Thomas Jr., inherited from him.

The points of similarity are quite striking, and further investi-
gation should either furnish additional proof or disprove the
guess. Child (only one known) : i. Thomas, born April 29, 1767,
married Catherine Rees.

Thomas Goodwin (Thomas), born April 29, 1767, was mar-
ried about 1788 to Catherine Rees, born October 7, 1767, a
daunghter of David and Lydia ( ) Rees, who were born in
Wales. Catherine knew her husband’s step-mother, but not his
own mother. They resided, perhaps, in Lancaster, Pa., surely
in Brownsville, Pa., and thence going to Ohio and eventually




